

Mucosal-associated invariant T cells orchestrate immunopathology and augment gastritis in chronic *Helicobacter pylori* infection

Criselle D'Souza^{1,2}, Troi Pediongco³, Huimeng Wang¹, Jean-Pierre Y. Scheerlinck², Lyudmila Kostenko¹, Robyn Esterbauer¹, Andrew Stent¹, Sidonia B.G. Eckle¹, Bronwyn S. Meehan¹, Richard A. Strugnell¹, Hanwei Cao¹, Ligong Liu^{1,4}, Jeffrey Y.M. Mak^{3,4}, [David P. Fairlie^{1,4}](#), Jamie Rossjohn^{5,6,7}, James McCluskey¹, Alison L. Every^{2,*}, Zhenjun Chen^{1,*}, Alexandra J. Corbett^{1,*}

Deleted: David P. Fairlie^{1,4},

¹Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Peter Doherty Institute for Infection and Immunity, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Victoria 3000, Australia

²Centre for Animal Biotechnology, Faculty of Veterinary and Agricultural Sciences, University of Melbourne, Victoria 3010, Australia

³Division of Chemistry and Structural Biology, Institute for Molecular Bioscience, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland 4072, Australia

⁴Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence in Advanced Molecular Imaging, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland 4072, Australia

⁵Infection and Immunity Program and Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Biomedicine Discovery Institute, Monash University, Clayton, Victoria 3800, Australia

⁶ARC Centre of Excellence in Advanced Molecular Imaging, Monash University, Clayton, Victoria 3800, Australia

⁷Institute of Infection and Immunity, Cardiff University School of Medicine, Heath Park, Cardiff CF14 4XN, UK

* joint senior authors.

Corresponding authors; Dr Alexandra Corbett; ORCID 0000-0003-1618-4337
corbetta@unimelb.edu.au Dr Zhenjun Chen; ORCID 0000-0003-1205-683X
zhenjun@unimelb.edu.au

Running title: MAIT cells augment *Helicobacter pylori*-induced pathology

SUMMARY

Mucosal-associated invariant T cells produce pro-inflammatory cytokines in response to microbially-derived vitamin B2 metabolites, protecting against some human pathogens. We demonstrate that MAIT cells augment immunopathology in murine *Helicobacter pylori* infection, with implications for human infection and associated disease.

ABSTRACT

Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells produce inflammatory cytokines (IL-17, IFN γ , TNF), and cytotoxic granzymes in response to by-products of microbial vitamin B2 (riboflavin) synthesis. Although MAIT cells are protective against some pathogens, we reasoned that they might contribute to pathology in chronic bacterial infection. We have observed MAIT cells in proximity to *Helicobacter pylori* bacilli in human gastric tissue. Here, using MR1 tetramers, we examined whether these cells contribute to chronic inflammation in gastritis in a mouse model of *H. pylori* infection. we analysed MAIT cells in chronic *Helicobacter pylori* SS1 infection. Following *H. pylori* infection of mice, MAIT cells, with an effector memory Tc1/Tc17 phenotype, accumulated in the stomach and accelerated gastritis, characterised by the augmented recruitment of neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells, eosinophils and non-MAIT T cells. This occurred both in MAIT TCR transgenic mice, and in wild-type C57BL/6 mice with pre-primed MAIT cells. Thus, we [demonstrate](#) a pathogenic role for MAIT cells in *Helicobacter*-associated inflammation, revealing a broader potential role for MAIT cell-driven immunopathology in chronic bacterial infection.

Deleted: show

INTRODUCTION

Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are a subset of T cells, which are abundant in humans (1-8% in blood), but relatively rare (about 0.1% in blood) in specific-pathogen-free (SPF)-housed laboratory mice (Chen et al., 2017; Martin et al., 2009; Rahimpour et al., 2015; Reantragoon et al., 2013). MAIT cells typically express a semi-invariant $\alpha\beta$ T cell antigen receptor (TCR), which in humans comprises TRAV1-TRAJ33 ($V\alpha 19$ -J $\alpha 33/20/12$) TCR α -chain preferentially assembled with TRBV20 ($V\beta 2$) or TRBV6 ($V\beta 13$) TCR β -chain and in mice TRAV1-TRAJ33 ($V\alpha 19$ -J $\alpha 33$) paired with TRBV19 ($V\beta 6$) or TRBV13 ($V\beta 8$) (Lepore et al., 2014; Reantragoon et al., 2013; Tilloy et al., 1999), and is restricted by the monomorphic Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) related protein-1 (MR1) (Le Bourhis et al., 2011).

MR1 presents vitamin B-based antigens (Ags), including 5-(2-oxopropylideneamino)-6-D-ribitylaminouracil (5-OP-RU) and 5-(2-oxoethylideneamino)-6-D-ribitylaminouracil (5-OE-RU), which derive from a precursor of microbial riboflavin (vitamin B2) biosynthesis and activate MAIT cells *in vitro* (Corbett et al., 2014; Eckle et al., 2015; Keller et al., 2017a, [Mak et al., 2017](#)).

Indeed, a correlation between the presence of the riboflavin synthesis pathway in diverse microbes, including bacteria and yeast, with MAIT cell activation, led to the discovery of this pathway as furnishing this new class of antigen ([Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012](#); [Corbett et al., 2014](#)). In contrast, microbes that do not synthesise riboflavin, such as *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Enterococcus faecalis*, do not activate MAIT cells (Gold et al., 2010; Le Bourhis et al., 2010). Thus, MAIT cells, which are concentrated in tissues including lungs, intestine and liver, are ideally placed to detect metabolically active microbes producing these Ags at mucosal sites.

In vivo stimulation of MAIT cells with intranasally-delivered synthetic 5-OP-RU, in the presence of co-stimulatory signals provided by TLR ligation, led to MAIT cell accumulation in the lungs (Chen et al., 2017). MAIT cell non-stimulatory Ags, including 6-formyl pterin (6-FP, a folic acid degradation product) and acetyl-6-FP (a derivative) are also presented by MR1 (Kjer-

Commented [11]: I think this is needed because the actual class of antigen was not correctly reported until 2014.

Nielsen et al., 2012) and can competitively block MAIT cell activation *in vitro* (Eckle et al., 2014) and *in vivo* (Keller et al., 2017b). Human and mouse MR1-Ag-tetramers containing 5-OP-RU specifically detect MAIT cells in the respective species (Chen et al., 2017; Corbett et al., 2014; Reantragoon et al., 2013) without the need for surrogate and potentially misleading MAIT cell markers (Chen et al., 2017; Rahimpour et al., 2015).

MAIT cells rapidly secrete cytokines (including IFN γ , IL-17 and TNF) upon stimulation and play a protective role in some bacterial infections, including *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *M. bovis* BCG and *Francisella tularensis* (Georgel et al., 2011; Meierovics et al., 2013; Meierovics and Cowley, 2016; Sakala et al., 2015). They can also be activated in a TCR-independent manner by cytokines or viral infections (Loh et al., 2016; Ussher et al., 2014; van Wilgenburg et al., 2016). Correlations between MAIT cell number and disease have also been demonstrated for a range of chronic inflammatory conditions suggesting that MAIT cells may also contribute to immunopathology as well as protection against microbes. These conditions include multiple sclerosis (Held et al., 2015; Miyazaki et al., 2011; Negrotto et al., 2015; Salou et al., 2016; Willing et al., 2014), rheumatoid arthritis (Chiba et al., 2012; Sugimoto et al., 2015), inflammatory bowel diseases (Haga et al., 2016; Hiejima et al., 2015; Serriari et al., 2014; Treiner, 2015), coeliac disease (Dunne et al., 2013) and ankylosing spondylitis (Gracey et al., 2016; Hayashi et al., 2016). The basis of these correlative associations could involve MAIT cell activation but might also be attributable to treatment (Hinks et al., 2016). Indeed, few studies to date have attempted to understand the potential role of MAIT cells in immunopathology. We reasoned this might be most likely in unresolved chronic bacterial infection and tested this idea in a model of *H. pylori* gastritis noting that MAIT cell numbers are reduced in patients' blood during *H. pylori* infection versus healthy controls and human gastric MAIT cells can produce cytokines in response to *H. pylori* (Booth et al., 2015).

H. pylori is a Gram negative extracellular bacterium that colonises the stomach. A large proportion of the world's population is infected with *H. pylori*, and in most people, unless treated with antibiotics, the infection persists for decades. Most infected individuals remain asymptomatic, but about 15-20% develop overt disease such as peptic ulcers and severe gastritis. A smaller proportion (1-3% of cases) develops gastric adenocarcinoma and fewer again (0.1%) mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma (Peek and Crabtree, 2006). The magnitude of the immune reaction to, and the pro-carcinogenic effects of *H. pylori* are determined by both pathogen-derived factors, including well-characterised virulence genes (Ohnishi et al., 2008; Wada et al., 2004), and host factors, including polymorphisms that lead to high expression of the pleiotropic pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β , have been linked to increased development of hypochlorhydria, gastric atrophy and distal gastric adenocarcinoma in *H. pylori* infected patients (Wroblewski et al., 2010).

Commented [II2]: I don't like the word "only" 15-20% is significant !

Deleted: with only

Deleted: ing

Infection with *H. pylori* induces both innate and adaptive immune responses by the host, generally T helper (TH) 1-biased, and tempered by regulatory T cells (reviewed in (Larussa et al., 2015)). The production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-17 and IFN γ by MAIT cells (Dusseaux et al., 2011; Meierovics et al., 2013; Rahimpour et al., 2015), suggests their potential to play roles in the chronic inflammation (gastritis) that is characteristic of *H. pylori* infection, and possibly in the subsequent development of more severe MALT lymphoma and adenocarcinoma that occur in some patients. Since the role of MAIT cells in the immune response to *H. pylori* remains unclear, this circumstantial evidence prompted us to address this question experimentally, using Ag-specific MR1 tetramers to detect MAIT cells, thereby removing ambiguity inherent in surrogate markers of these cells.

Deleted: an

Deleted: a

Mouse models of *H. pylori* infection have been widely utilised to understand disease development, and show the importance of CD4⁺ T cells including Th17 cells (Gray et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2010). However, to date, no analysis of MAIT cells in mouse models of *H. pylori* has

been reported, perhaps in part due to the low abundance of MAIT cells in mice and low numbers of lymphocytes in uninfected stomachs, coupled with a previous paucity of reagents (MR1 tetramers) to precisely identify murine MAIT cells. Here we use both $V\alpha 19i.C\alpha\epsilon$ MAIT TCR transgenic mice and wild-type C57BL/6 mice with pre-boosted MAIT cells, coupled with the capacity to specifically detect MAIT cells using MR1-tetramers, to investigate the role of MAIT cells in *H. pylori* infection, revealing for the first time, their pathogenic role in a chronic bacterial infection.

RESULTS

***Helicobacter pylori* have a riboflavin-biosynthesis pathway and are capable of activating MAIT reporter cells.**

We first tested whether *H. pylori* synthesise ligands that stimulate MAIT cells. Previously, we have shown that both human and mouse MAIT cells are stimulated by ligands, including 5-OP-RU, formed from the non-enzymatic reaction of a microbial riboflavin biosynthesis precursor with small metabolites (Corbett et al., 2014; Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012). *H. pylori* and other *Helicobacter* species contain an intact riboflavin synthesis pathway (Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes database), and thus were predicted to produce MAIT cell-stimulating riboflavin biosynthesis-derived Ags. To verify MAIT cell stimulation by *H. pylori*, we tested culture supernatant from *H. pylori* SS1 cultures for its ability to stimulate a reporter MAIT cell line, Jurkat.MAIT (Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012). Similar to *Salmonella* Typhimurium, previously shown to stimulate Jurkat.MAIT cells in this assay (Corbett et al., 2014; Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012; Reantragoon et al., 2012), *H. pylori* culture supernatant caused up-regulation of CD69 on Jurkat.MAIT cells in the presence of MR1 expressed on C1R cells (C1R.MR1) (**Figure 1a**). This could be specifically blocked with the anti-MR1 mAb 26.5, but not an isotype control mAb (**Figure 1a**). Importantly, Jurkat cells expressing an irrelevant TCR (Jurkat.LC13) were not

activated under the same conditions (**Figure 1b**). This indicates that *H. pylori* is capable of producing MAIT cell-stimulating Ag. In addition, *H. pylori* supernatant caused up-regulation of MR1 on C1R.MR1 cells (**Figure 1c**), similar to that previously seen with *Salmonella* Typhimurium supernatant or synthetic 5-OP-RU, 6-FP or acetyl 6-FP (Eckle et al., 2014; Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012; Mak et al., 2017), a further confirmation of the presence of MR1-binding Ag.

***H. pylori* infection in mice increases MAIT cell numbers in the stomach.**

Following human *H. pylori* infection, only ~20% of individuals develop overt disease. Booth *et al.* (2015) recently reported the presence of MAIT cells in human gastric biopsies and demonstrated their capacity to respond to *H. pylori*-infected macrophages *in vitro*. Upon examining stomach tissue obtained from patients following sleeve gastrectomy bariatric procedures by immunofluorescence microscopy in 3 out of 10 cases we observed CD3⁺TRAV1-2⁺ cells within the gastric mucosa in close proximity to *H. pylori* (**Figure 2**). Using MR1 tetramer staining MAIT cells could be detected in single cell preparations of gastric tissue where they represented ~1% of T cells (**Figure 2 and Supplementary Figure 1**). Together, the presence of MAIT cells in gastric tissue and the ability of *H. pylori* to activate MAIT cells suggest a potential role for MAIT cells in the immune response to *H. pylori* infection. Notably, analysis of patient samples is complicated by the unknown timing and duration of infection, medication history and co-morbidities, such as obesity (Magalhaes and Lehuen, 2015) and other conditions. Hence, we directly assessed the role of MAIT cells in the well-established mouse model of *H. pylori* SS1 infection (Lee et al., 1997), given its strong similarities to human *H. pylori* gastric pathology. This allowed us to evaluate the behaviour and function of MAIT cells in mouse stomachs following controlled infection in inbred mice with a mouse-adapted *H. pylori* strain.

MAIT cells are rare in wild-type (wt) C57BL/6 mice compared with humans. For instance, they represent <0.5% of T lymphocytes in the stomach of naïve mice, (data not shown). Hence,

Commented [I13]: Few too many hences in consecutive sentences here and later. Took some out.

following *H. pylori* infection of wt C57BL/6 mice, we observed that only ~20% (2/10) of animals exhibited an increase in proportion of MAIT cells, detected by MR1-tetramers, co-incident with gastric pathology (data not shown). We reasoned that increasing mouse MAIT cell numbers to resemble the relative numbers found in adult humans might facilitate investigation of their role in immune protection or pathology. For this purpose, we turned initially to MAIT TCR transgenic mice ($V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ -MR1⁻). These transgenic mice express large numbers of T cells with the canonical TCR α chain ($V\alpha 19i$) characteristic of mouse MAIT cells. They lack the endogenous TCR α chains ($C\alpha$ ⁺), thereby eliminating expression of endogenous TCR α (Kawachi et al., 2006). MAIT cells from $V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ -MR1⁻ mice are abundant, produce IFN γ and TNF and proliferate *in vitro* in response to specific MAIT cell Ag 5-OP-RU (Reantragoon et al., 2013).

Accordingly, we infected $V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ ⁻ transgenic mice on MR1⁻ and MR1⁺ backgrounds with *H. pylori* and then isolated single cell suspensions from the stomachs for flow cytometric analysis of MAIT cells at several time points. MAIT cells as a proportion of $\alpha\beta$ -T cells significantly increased from ~30% to ~60% at 12 weeks post-infection in the $V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ -MR1⁻ mice as compared to the control $V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ -MR1⁺ mice (Figure 3a, b). Thus, MAIT cells are capable of responding not only to *H. pylori* Ags *in vitro*, but also to infection *in vivo*.

An increase in gastric MAIT cells upon *H. pylori* infection of $V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ -MR1⁻ mice is associated with severe pathology.

We next determined whether MAIT cells accumulating in the stomach in chronic *H. pylori* infection contribute to pathology. $V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ -MR1⁻ and $V\alpha 19iC\alpha$ -MR1⁺ were infected with *H. pylori* and stomachs processed for histological assessment by H&E staining at various time points after infection. Sections were scored blindly for cellular infiltration (neutrophilic and lymphocytic) and atrophy, a classical characteristic of chronic gastritis where there is a loss of chief and parietal cells, and a critical step in the development of gastric cancer (Park and Kim, 2015; Rogers, 2012).

Deleted: Hence, we

An increased cellular infiltrate was seen in the stomachs of $V\alpha 19iC\alpha MR1^+$ mice relative to $V\alpha 19iC\alpha MR1^-$ mice at 12 weeks (**Figure 3a, c**), consistent with an increase in MAIT cells identified by tetramer staining (**Figure 3b**), and as early as 2 weeks in some mice (not shown). At 12 weeks post-infection, most $V\alpha 19iC\alpha MR1^+$ mice developed severe atrophy (**Figure 3c, d**), suggesting that MAIT cells not only accumulate after infection, but also contribute to pathology.

Prior expansion of MAIT cells in wild-type mice results in greater MAIT cell accumulation in stomachs following in *H. pylori* infection.

MAIT cell accumulation and enhanced pathology was seen in the $V\alpha 19i$ (MAIT TCR α) transgenic mice. However, since the $\alpha\beta$ -T cell repertoire in these mice is unnaturally constrained to favour cells expressing only the transgenic $V\alpha 19J\alpha 33$ TCR (Kawachi et al., 2006) and some of these T cells do not appear to be MR1-restricted (Sakala et al., 2015), we wished to determine the MAIT cell response to *H. pylori* infection in wt mice. Inbred SPF-housed mice have far fewer MAIT cells in the blood than humans, and it has been hypothesised that childhood infections in humans boost MAIT cell numbers (Koay et al., 2016). Less than 100 MAIT cells are recoverable in single cell suspensions from the stomach of naïve wt C57BL/6 mice (<0.5% stomach T cells), compared to ~1-3% in the human gastric mucosa (Booth et al., 2015, and our unpublished observations). We reasoned that boosting MAIT cell numbers in wt C57BL/6 mice by prior bacterial infection at another mucosal site might expand MAIT cells, and hence reveal their role in gastric infection as observed in the $V\alpha 19iC\alpha MR1^+$ mice.

For this purpose, we used a recently developed model of MAIT cell enrichment in wt C57BL/6 mice (Chen et al., 2017) that involves either intranasal infection with *Salmonella* Typhimurium or co-inoculation of MAIT Ag and TLR agonists. Following boosting, MAIT cells rapidly expand in an MR1-dependent manner, comprising up to 50% of T cells in the lungs at day 7 post-infection. Moreover, MAIT cells were redistributed to other organs and tissues, and their frequencies

Deleted: (

Deleted:)

Deleted: Hence, w

remained elevated up to 10 weeks post-infection (Chen et al., 2017). Thus, we consider that this model more closely resembles MAIT cell distribution in adult humans where a history of infection and bacterial colonisation may lead to a greater number of MAIT cells than observed in SPF-housed mice.

In order to determine the effect of boosting MAIT cell numbers on subsequent *H. pylori* infection, wt C57BL/6 mice were infected with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 and after 7 weeks, when the *Salmonella* bacteria are cleared, mice were challenged by gastric infection with *H. pylori* SS1 (Figure 4a). As expected, prior pulmonary infection with *Salmonella* not only expanded the proportion of MAIT cells in the lungs, and blood of infected mice, but also in the stomachs (Figure 4b). Notably, in the stomach, the proportion of MAIT cells increased to approximately 6% of T cells (Figure 4b). This is similar to human MAIT cell percentages (Booth et al., 2015 and our unpublished observations). When these mice were subsequently challenged with *H. pylori*, there was an increase in MAIT cell numbers as early as 2 weeks post-infection with a significant increase over time (Figure 4c).

Stomach MAIT cells induced following *H. pylori* infection exhibit a Tc17/Tc1 profile.

We next examined the phenotype of the MAIT cells accumulating after *H. pylori* infection in mice that were pre-boosted with *S. Typhimurium*. MAIT cells isolated from both the lungs and the stomach retained an “effector-memory” phenotype, as previously described (Chen et al., 2017; Dusseaux et al., 2011), being CD44⁺ and CD62L⁺ (Figure 5a). MAIT cells are known to express a transcriptional signature that includes the regulators PLZF, ROR γ t and T-bet. We found that stomach MAIT cells showed a mixture of PLZF⁺ and PLZF⁻, as well as ROR γ t⁺ and ROR γ t⁻ cells. T-bet was expressed on the majority of MAIT cells, 8 weeks post *H. pylori* infection (Figure 5b and Supplementary Figure 2). There was a preferential accumulation of CD8⁺ MAIT cells in the stomach (Figure 5c), and the majority of MAIT cells expressed CD69 and CD103, consistent with

Deleted: (

Deleted:)

a tissue-resident phenotype (Booth et al., 2015) (**Figure 5d**). This was also true for non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cells accumulating in the stomach after 8-weeks of infection with *H. pylori*. Multiplex PCR and sequencing of single cells showed a TCR repertoire consistent with MAIT cells (**Supplementary Table 1**). Thus, MAIT cells accumulating in the stomach after *H. pylori* infection have a transcription factor profile consistent with Tc17/Tc1 type cells characteristic of pro-inflammatory capability.

MAIT cells are important for early recruitment of other T cells.

In order to understand the implications of MAIT cell accumulation during gastric infection, we examined the effect of MAIT cell induction on the non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cell response. In pre-primed mice the increase in MAIT cells was also accompanied by an increase in non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cells. This effect was not observed in mice lacking MR1 (C57BL/6.MR1^{-/-}), indicating that it was MR1-dependent and therefore likely to be a MAIT cell-driven (**Figure 6a**). We have previously shown, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, that MAIT cell responses are dependent on microbial riboflavin metabolites (Chen et al., 2017; Corbett et al., 2014; Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012). Mice infected with a mutant strain of *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 in which key genes involved in riboflavin synthesis, *ribD* and *ribH*, are deleted (*Salm.ΔribDH*) (Chen et al., 2017) did not accumulate MAIT cells in their stomachs following subsequent *H. pylori* infection (**Figure 6b**). However, the response could be rescued when BRD509Δ*ribDH* was supplemented with synthetic 5-OP-RU ligand (Mak et al., 2017) (**Figure 6b**). The non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cell accumulation was also partially dependent on the presence of 5-OP-RU, supplied either by adding riboflavin-producing *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 bacteria or by adding exogenous synthetic ligand (**Figure 6c**). Similar to our previous observations in the lung model (Chen et al., 2017), this result could be reproduced by intranasal introduction of specific MAIT cell antigen 5-OP-RU and a co-stimulus, such as the TLR2/6 agonist *S*-[2,3-bis(palmitoyloxy)propyl] cysteine (Pam2Cys) (Jackson et al., 2004; Lau et al.,

Deleted: an

Deleted: -infection

Deleted: an

Deleted: effect

Deleted: either

Deleted: the

Deleted: proficient

Deleted: as

2006). In contrast, non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cell accumulation was much less apparent when Pam2Cys was combined intranasally with the MR1 ligand 6-FP, which does not stimulate MAIT cells (Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012) (**Figure 6d, e**). Thus, Ag-specific priming of MAIT cells leads to accumulation of non-MAIT T cells in the stomach upon *H. pylori* infection.

Recruitment of other immune cells via MAIT cells leads to accelerated pathology.

T cells and other cell types, including neutrophils and macrophages, have been implicated in pathology (gastritis) following *H. pylori* infection in humans and mouse models (Kaparakis et al., 2008; Moyat and Velin, 2014). In mice pre-primed with either *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 or Pam2Cys plus 5-OP-RU, and then challenged with *H. pylori*, we observed, in addition to MAIT cell (**Figure 4c**) and non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cell (**Figure 6a**) accumulation, an increase in other immune cells including neutrophils, macrophages, eosinophils and dendritic cells (**Figure 7a-d**). This increase was significantly higher than in MR1⁻ mice, indicating a role for MAIT cells in the recruitment of other cell types. The MAIT cell accumulation and recruitment of other cell types was associated with gastritis, which was evident on H&E-stained stomach sections (**Supplementary Figure 3**), and in significantly increased pathogenic scores, compared to MR1⁻ mice, for lymphocytic infiltrate and atrophy. Strikingly, all MAIT pre-boosted mice infected with *H. pylori* developed atrophic gastritis by 8 weeks post-infection (**Figure 7e**); comparatively, only 2/5 mice developed atrophic gastritis (score 1/4) in the absence of MR1. Gastritis was also observed following *H. pylori* infection in wt mice primed with riboflavin-deficient *S. Typhimurium* (Salm. Δ ribDH) or Pam2Cys, but this was significantly increased when the specific MAIT antigen 5-OP-RU was also added (**Supplementary Figure 4**), further demonstrating that MR1-Ag dependent MAIT activation is a driver of gastric pathology.

DISCUSSION

We and others (Booth et al., 2015) have observed the presence of MAIT cells in human gastric mucosae, prompting us to examine the role of MAIT cells in chronic *H. pylori* infection, with the use of an established mouse infection model supported by detection of MAIT cells using Ag-specific MR1-5-OP-RU-tetramers. Given that MAIT cells were virtually undetectable in stomachs of SPF-housed wt C57BL/6 mice, we used two [methods](#) to boost MAIT cell numbers to ‘human-like’ proportions prior to challenge with *H. pylori*, on the basis that prior expansion of these cells is integral to their impact. First, we used V α 19iC α -MR1⁺ TCR transgenic mice, where a rapid, MR1-dependent, expansion of MAIT cells was observed following infection that led to early and severe atrophic gastritis. This observation strongly suggested the association of MAIT cells and pathology.

Secondly, we built [upon](#) our previous studies showing that MAIT cells are distributed to many different tissues and organs after resolution of a primary lung infection (Chen et al., 2017). We hypothesized that a previous history of infection of this kind can prime MAIT cells in [naïve](#) mice and increase their numbers to a level similar to that in humans. Indeed, we observed increased MAIT cells in the stomach after a primary lung infection, possibly due to mucosal homing markers expressed on MAIT cells and a shared cytokine/chemokine milieu between the mucosae of the lungs and stomach (Flach et al., 2012; Kohlmeier et al., 2011).

We show that when MAIT cells from wild type C57BL/6 [mice](#) are primed first with *S. Typhimurium*, or with specific antigen and a co-stimulus, they subsequently [respond rapidly upon](#) challenge with *H. pylori* (~10 fold increase at 2 weeks post-infection) and these mice develop severe inflammation, recapitulating what was observed with the MAIT TCR transgenic mice. These mice developed atrophic gastritis as early as 8 weeks post-infection, which is normally not [observed](#) in wt C57BL/6 mice infected with *H. pylori*. The response was specific to MAIT cells and dependent on MR1. The accumulation of MAIT cells in the stomach showed a biased

Deleted: ways

Deleted: naïve

Deleted: the

Commented [114]: This is not clear – clarify the ten fold increase – of what? Accumulation? Doesn't quite make sense as written. Disconnect between “They respond rapidly” and “10 fold increase” Need 2 short sentences here.

Deleted: seen

enrichment of CD8⁺ MAIT cells that was not seen in the blood. This could be due to up-regulation of CD8 [on the same MAIT cell population](#), as the cytokine milieu has been shown to influence CD8 expression on CD4⁺ T intraepithelial lymphocytes (Reis et al., 2013), or [it](#) might reflect preferential expansion of CD8⁺ MAIT cells.

Consistent with other mouse and human studies on MAIT cells (Booth et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2017; Dusseaux et al., 2011), we observed that MAIT cells in the stomach have an effector memory phenotype, characterised by CD44⁺ CD62L⁺ expression. A large proportion (~50-70%) expressed the tissue resident memory (TRM) markers CD69 and CD103, consistent with observations on cells isolated from *H. pylori*-infected stomachs (Booth et al., 2015), and reflecting the chronic nature of *H. pylori* infection. MAIT cells isolated from infected stomachs also showed high expression of T-bet, consistent with a Th1-biased immune response to *H. pylori* and similar to that [observed](#) after acute bacterial lung infection (Chen et al., 2017). Interestingly, T-bet deficient mice exhibit a higher bacterial load, but lower levels of gastritis after *H. pylori* infection, indicating that a Th1-biased response may be important for both protection and immunopathology (Eaton et al., 2006). PLZF and ROR γ t were each expressed on ~50% of stomach MAIT cells following *H. pylori* infection of primed mice. Although MAIT cells in the stomachs of naïve mice were too few to be included in this analysis, the lower expression of these transcription factors following infection differs from that seen previously in either naïve or *S. Typhimurium*-infected lungs, where the majority of MAIT cells expressed PLZF and ROR γ t (Chen et al., 2017). This difference may result from re-programming of MAIT cell [cytokine profiles](#), [preferential expansion](#) of MAIT cell subsets under different tissue-specific cytokine milieu during chronic stimulation, or [other signals that differ between the two pathogens](#). Interestingly, natural killer T cells can down-regulate PLZF in adipose tissue due to chronic activation (Lynch et al., 2015). To our knowledge, this is the first description of such a marked shift in the expression pattern of these transcription factors by MAIT cells, and the first demonstration of enrichment of Tc1/Th1 MAIT cells.

Deleted: ,

Deleted: seen

Deleted: s'

Deleted: and/or the

Deleted: and/

Deleted: due to

A number of studies using a range of mouse models have shown a Th1/Th17 type of T cell response in *H. pylori* (Gray et al., 2013). The pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF, IFN γ and IL17 are known to play an important synergistic role in regulating polymorphonuclear leukocyte migration in an inflammatory setting (Cua and Tato, 2010; Ellis and Beaman, 2004; Griffin et al., 2012). MAIT, and to a lesser extent non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cells in our study, showed mixed ROR γ t⁺ and ROR γ t⁻ populations and high T-bet expression. Although technical difficulties precluded detection of cytokine production by stomach MAIT cells, the high T-bet expression suggests MAIT cells likely express IFN γ in *H. pylori*-infected stomachs, consistent with a role for this cytokine in driving pathology. Importantly, we also showed that the presence of MAIT cells correlated with infiltration of innate immune cells, as well as increased recruitment of non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cells. This recruitment is associated with the severe gastritis phenotype observed in the wild-type C57BL/6 with pre-boostered MAIT cells, and MAIT TCR transgenic mice infected with *H. pylori*. Indeed, previous studies have shown that T cells are major orchestrators of inflammation (Gray et al., 2013; Shi et al., 2010; Tan et al., 2008). Interestingly, IFN γ - and IL-17A-deficient mice exhibited reduced gastritis in previous *H. pylori* infection studies, consistent with a role for MAIT or other cell types in orchestrating pathology (Yamamoto et al., 2004).

In summary, we show that in *H. pylori*-induced gastritis, MAIT cells play a pathogenic role in orchestrating immunopathology. This study provides the first *in vivo* evidence that MAIT cells can drive inflammation and pathology during chronic bacterial infection. It is likely that the penetrance of gastritis in *H. pylori*-infected humans is partly influenced by a previous history of infections, and MAIT cell priming at other mucosal sites. The recognition of a common MR1-restricted Ag, derived from bacterial riboflavin synthesis, suggests that MAIT cells represent a potential therapeutic target to modulate inflammation in other chronic bacterial infections. Our findings also underscore a potential risk of vaccination, such as with *S. Typhi* (Salerno-Goncalves

Deleted: that the

Deleted: is of the Th1/Th17 type

Deleted: evidence,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: may be

et al., 2017), which might activate MAIT cells and predispose an individual to subsequent immunopathology.

Deleted: .

Deleted: thus

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Human gastric tissue and immunofluorescence staining. Human gastric tissue, normally discarded following sleeve gastrectomy bariatric surgery was obtained through The Avenue Hospital, Melbourne with written consent from patients, as per Ethics Approval #1442531 from The University of Melbourne and #187 from The Avenue Human Research Ethics Committees. All patients were female, between 27-57 years of age. Gastric mucosa was dissected from underlying tissue, rinsed with ice-cold HBSS, snap frozen in OCT and sectioned (8 μ m) using a Leica CM3050 S cryostat. Acetone-fixed tissue was blocked with Serum-Free Protein Block (DAKO, Denmark) for 30 min and/or 10% goat serum (Sigma, Missouri, USA) at RT, prior to detection with primary antibodies targeting CD3 (CD3-12, Bio-Rad), TRAV1-2 (3C10, Biolegend, CA, USA) and *H. pylori* rabbit polyclonal (DAKO) diluted in 2.5% normal goat serum, followed by Alexa Fluor 647-Goat anti Rat, Alexa Fluor 488-Goat anti Mouse and Alexa Fluor 555-Goat anti Rabbit secondary antibodies, respectively (Life Technologies, CA, USA). Nuclei were counter-stained with Hoechst 33342 (Life Technologies) prior to mounting with ProlongGold (Life Technologies). Slides were analysed using Carl Zeiss LSM700 confocal microscope with a 20x and 100x objectives and Carl Zeiss Zen software. Images were prepared using FIJI/Image J software.

Commented [115]: Is it necessary to stipulate approval numbers?

PBMC and gastric cell preparations and flow cytometry

Tissue was transferred to 30 ml EDTA/BSS + 5% FCS + 1 mM DTT, chopped into 2-5 mm pieces, then incubated shaking at 150 rpm, 15 min, 37 °C. Cells dissociated from tissue were passed through a 70 μ m strainer, washed in EDTA/BSS + 5% FCS. Patient PBMCs were prepared

by Ficoll-Plaque density gradient separation from ~20 ml fresh blood. Both gastric and blood cells were frozen in FCS + 10% DMSO and stored in liquid N₂ until use. Upon thawing, cells were washed, rested for 1-2 hours then filtered (70 μ m). Cells (3×10^6 to 3×10^8) were incubated in viability stain Live/Dead Aqua (ThermoFisher 1:500) for 30 min, at RT, before staining with Ab to CD3 (OKT3 AF700, eBioscience), CD45 (HI30, BV605, BioLegend), CD161 (HP-3G10, PE-Cy7, BioLegend) and human MR1-5-OP-RU-tetramer (PE), and were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde before analysis on a BD LSR Fortessa Flow Cytometer (BD Biosciences). Data was analysed with FlowJo software (Treestar, v10).

Activation of Jurkat.MAIT cells and MR1 upregulation. MAIT cell reporter activation and MR1 expression upregulation assays were performed essentially as previously reported (Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012). Jurkat cells overexpressing the MAIT TCR clone AF-7 (Jurkat.MAIT), were tested for activation by co-incubation with compounds and C1R antigen presenting cells overexpressing MR1 (C1R.MR1) for 16 h. Cells were subsequently stained with PE-Cy7-conjugated anti-CD3 (UCHT1, eBioscience, 1:300), and APC-conjugated anti-CD69 (BD, 1:25) before analysis by on a FACS CantoII (BD) flow cytometer. Activation of Jurkat.MAIT was measured by an increase in surface CD69 expression. In some activation experiments, blocking antibody (prepared in house from hybridoma anti-MR1 mAb 26.5, a gift from Dr. Ted Hansen, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO (Chua et al., 2011)) or isotype control 8A5 (prepared in-house) were added (final 10 μ g/ml) prior to addition of the test supernatants. For MR1 expression, cells were additionally stained with biotinylated anti-MR1 mAb 26.5, followed by PE-conjugated streptavidin. Control Jurkat.LC13 cells (Kjer-Nielsen et al., 2012) utilizing alpha chain TRAV26-2 and beta chain TRBV7-8 were activated by C1R cells expressing HLA-B8 in the presence of the Epstein-Barr viral peptide FLRGRAYGL (FLR).

Compounds and immunogens. 5-OP-RU was prepared as described previously (Mak et al., 2017). 6-FP was purchased from Schirks Laboratories ([place?](#)). TLR2/6 agonist Pam2Cys (Tan et al., 2012) was chemically synthesized and functionally verified. CpG1688 (Sequence: T*C*C*A*T*G*A*C*G*T*T*C*C*T*G*A*T*G*C*T (*phosphorothioate linkage) non-methylated cytosine-guanosine oligonucleotides was purchased from Geneworks (Australia). Poly (I:C) (HMW VacciGrade) was purchased from InvivoGen (USA).

Mice. All C57BL/6 mice, MR1^{-/-} mice, Vα19iCα-MR1^{-/-} and Vα19iCα-MR1^{-/-} (all on C57BL/6 genetic background) were bred and housed in the Biological Research Facility of the Peter Doherty Institute for Infection and Immunity, University of Melbourne. MR1^{-/-} mice were derived from Vα19iCα-MR1^{-/-} mice (Kawachi et al., 2006) obtained from Susan Gilfillan (Washington University in St. Louis School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO). MR1^{-/-} mice were generated by breeding Vα19iCα-MR1^{-/-} mice with C57BL/6 mice, and inter-crossing of F1 mice. The genotype was determined by tail DNA PCR at the MR1 locus and by analyzing blood for the presence of intact αβ-T cells using antibodies against TCRβ. The phenotype (absence of MAIT cells) of the MR1^{-/-} mouse line was verified by examining MAIT cells in the retired founder breeder mice. Female mice aged between 6-12 weeks were used in all experiments. All procedures on mice were conducted after approval by the University of Melbourne Animal Ethics Committee.

Bacterial culture and infection. *Helicobacter pylori* SS1 (Lee et al., 1997) was cultivated as described previously (McGuckin et al., 2007). Mice were infected orogastrically with *H. pylori* (10⁷ cfu) suspended in 100 μL brain heart infusion broth (BHI). *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium BRD509 (Hoise and Stocker, 1981; Newland et al., 1992) and the *S. Typhimurium* BRD509Δ*ribDH* mutant (Chen et al., 2017) have been previously described. For *S. Typhimurium* Δ*ribDH* growth, culture medium was supplemented with 20 μg/ml riboflavin. Mice

were inoculated under isoflurane anaesthesia with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 (10^8 cfu) or Δ *ribDH* (10^8 unless otherwise stated) or Ags (1.52 μ M 5-OP-RU or 6-FP alone in 50 μ l, or in 45 μ l plus 5 μ l of 20 nmol Pam2Cys) prepared in 50 μ l PBS, via the intranasal route.

Preparation of organs and isolation of cells. Single cell suspensions of lungs, blood, mesenteric lymph nodes, and spleen were prepared as described previously (Chen et al., 2017). Gastric immune cells were isolated by perfusion from longitudinally halved stomachs, as described previously (Ng and Sutton, 2015).

Generation of MR1 tetramers. Mouse or human MR1 and β 2-Microglobulin proteins were expressed in *E. coli* inclusion bodies, refolded and purified as described previously (Patel et al., 2013). MR1-5-OP-RU labelled with BV-421 and MR1-6-FP (unlabelled) tetramers were generated as described previously (Corbett et al., 2014) and prepared simultaneously.

Antibodies and flow cytometry. Antibodies against CD19 (1D3, PerCP-Cy 5.5), CD3 (UCHL1, PE or 145-2C11, PE-Cy7) CD4 (GK1.5, APC-Cy7), CD45.2 (104, FITC), CD69 (FN50, APC) CD8 α (53-6.7, PE), TCR β (H57-597, APC or FITC) were purchased from BD. Antibodies against MHC II (M5, AlexaFluor700), PLZF (Mags.21F7, PE), ROR γ t (B2D, APC) and T-bet (4B10, PE-Cy7) were purchased from eBioscience. To block non-specific staining, cells were incubated with MR1-6-FP tetramer (unlabelled, 1:100) and anti-Fc receptor (2.4G2) for 15 min at RT prior to antibody staining. Cells were then incubated at RT with antibody cocktails including MR1-5-OP-RU tetramer in PBS/2% FCS. Cells were then further incubated with 7-aminoactinomycin D (5 μ l/sample) for 10 min in the dark at RT and fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde prior to analysis on LSR Fortessa (BD Bioscience). Data was analysed with Flowjo X 10 software (Treestar). Cell counts were obtained using blank calibration particles (BD

Commented [116]: Usually list place after manufacturer? What is "BD"?

Formatted: Highlight

Pharmingén). Transcription factor staining was performed using a commercial transcription buffer staining set (eBioscience) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Assessment of gastritis. Longitudinally dissected half stomachs were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin, embedded in paraffin; 5 µm sections were stained with H&E and scored by a blinded operator under light microscopy. A pathologist also scored sections independently and the grading system is based on a previously described system (Sutton et al., 2001) with modifications. Briefly, inflammation was assessed in two separate tissue sections for each animal using 3 parameters: (i) neutrophil infiltration and (ii) lymphocyte infiltration: scored from 0 - 4 on the basis of number of cells and whether widespread or multifocal infiltrate was observed, and (iii) atrophy: scored from 0-4 on the basis of percentage loss of chief and parietal cells from the gastric glands.

PCR amplification and sequencing of TCR repertoire. Single cells were sorted from *S. Typhimurium* BRD509-primed, *H. pylori*-infected C57BL/6 mouse stomachs on a FACSAria flow cytometer. PCR amplification and TCR sequencing was performed as previously described (Reantragoon et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2012).

Statistical analysis. Statistical tests were performed using Prism software (version 6, GraphPad software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Comparisons between groups were performed using one-way ANOVA, Student's t test or Kruskal-Wallis test (histopathology scores)..

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CD'S, TP, HW, LK, RE performed experiments, LL, JM, SE, BM provided unique reagents, HC generated and tested the ribDH mutant *S. Typhimurium*. AS conducted histological pathology

Deleted: ic

Deleted: ic

assessment, CD'S, AE, AC, ZC, JM conceptualised the study, designed and analysed experiments and wrote the paper, J-PS, RS, JR, [DF](#) provided intellectual input and edited the paper.

Deleted: DP

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by Program Grants 1016629 and 1113293, and Project Grants 1062889 and [1120467](#) from the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia and by a Merieux Research Grant. AC is supported by an ARC Future Fellowship. JR is supported by an ARC Laureate Fellowship. DF is supported by an NHMRC Senior Principal Research Fellowship. CD is supported by a Melbourne International Research Scholarship and a Melbourne International Fee Remission Scholarship (The University of Melbourne). HW is supported by a Melbourne International Engagement Award (The University of Melbourne). We thank Dr Wei-Jen Chua and Dr Ted Hansen for their kind provision of the 26.5 mAb, David Jackson for his provision of Pam2Cys, and George Lovrecz (CSIRO) for production of mouse MR1 and β 2M. We thank Paul E. O'Brien and Paul Burton (Centre for Obesity Research) for provision of human gastric tissue. ZC, SE, DF, LL, JR JMc and AC are inventors on patents describing MR1 tetramers. The authors have no other competing financial interests.

Commented [117]: Can we add our new one too:
APP1125493

REFERENCES [some inconsistencies in Journal title listing \(abbreviations etc\)](#)

Booth, J.S., R. Salerno-Goncalves, T.G. Blanchard, S.A. Patil, H.A. Kader, A.M. Safta, L.M. Morningstar, S.J. Czinn, B.D. Greenwald, and M.B. Sztein. 2015. Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells in the Human Gastric Mucosa and Blood: Role in *Helicobacter pylori* Infection. *Front Immunol* 6:466.

Chen, Z., H. Wang, C. D'Souza, S. Sun, K. L., S.B.G. Eckle, B.S. Meehan, D.C. Jackson, R.A. Strugnell, H. Cao, N. Wang, D.P. Fairlie, L. Liu, D.I. Godfrey, J. Rossjohn, J. McCluskey, and A.J. Corbett. 2017. Mucosal-associated Invariant T cell activation and accumulation after in vivo infection depends on microbial riboflavin synthesis and co-stimulatory signals. *Mucosal Immunology* 10:58-68.

Deleted: i

Chiba, A., R. Tajima, C. Tomi, Y. Miyazaki, T. Yamamura, and S. Miyake. 2012. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells promote inflammation and exacerbate disease in murine models of arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 64:153-161.

Chua, W.J., S. Kim, N. Myers, S. Huang, L. Yu, D.H. Fremont, M.S. Diamond, and T.H. Hansen. 2011. Endogenous MHC-related protein 1 is transiently expressed on the plasma membrane in a conformation that activates mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Immunol* 186:4744-4750.

Corbett, A.J., S.B. Eckle, R.W. Birkinshaw, L. Liu, O. Patel, J. Mahony, Z. Chen, R. Reantragoon, B. Meehan, H. Cao, N.A. Williamson, R.A. Strugnell, D. Van Sinderen, J.Y. Mak, D.P. Fairlie, L. Kjer-Nielsen, J. Rossjohn, and J. McCluskey. 2014. T-cell activation by transitory neo-antigens derived from distinct microbial pathways. *Nature* 509:361-365.

Cua, D.J., and C.M. Tato. 2010. Innate IL-17-producing cells: the sentinels of the immune system. *Nat Rev Immunol* 10:479-489.

Dunne, M.R., L. Elliott, S. Hussey, N. Mahmud, J. Kelly, D.G. Doherty, and C.F. Feighery. 2013. Persistent changes in circulating and intestinal gammadelta T cell subsets, invariant natural killer T cells and mucosal-associated invariant T cells in children and adults with coeliac disease. *PLoS One* 8:e76008.

Dusseaux, M., E. Martin, N. Serriari, I. Peguillet, V. Premel, D. Louis, M. Milder, L. Le Bourhis, C. Soudais, E. Treiner, and O. Lantz. 2011. Human MAIT cells are xenobiotic-resistant, tissue-targeted, CD161hi IL-17-secreting T cells. *Blood* 117:1250-1259.

Eaton, K.A., L.H. Benson, J. Haeger, and B.M. Gray. 2006. Role of transcription factor T-bet expression by CD4+ cells in gastritis due to *Helicobacter pylori* in mice. *Infection and Immunity* 74:4673-4684.

Deleted: i

Eckle, S.B., R.W. Birkinshaw, L. Kostenko, A.J. Corbett, H.E. McWilliam, R. Reantragoon, Z. Chen, N.A. Gherardin, T. Beddoe, L. Liu, O. Patel, B. Meehan, D.P. Fairlie, J.A. Villadangos, D.I. Godfrey, L. Kjer-Nielsen, J. McCluskey, and J. Rossjohn. 2014. A molecular basis underpinning the T cell receptor heterogeneity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Exp Med* 211:1585-1600.

Eckle, S.B., A.J. Corbett, A.N. Keller, Z. Chen, D.I. Godfrey, L. Liu, J.Y. Mak, D.P. Fairlie, J. Rossjohn, and J. McCluskey. 2015. Recognition of Vitamin B Precursors and Byproducts by Mucosal Associated Invariant T Cells. *J Biol Chem* 290:30204-30211.

Ellis, T.N., and B.L. Beaman. 2004. Interferon-gamma activation of polymorphonuclear neutrophil function. *Immunology* 112:2-12.

Flach, C.F., M. Mozer, M. Sundquist, J. Holmgren, and S. Raghavan. 2012. Mucosal vaccination increases local chemokine production attracting immune cells to the stomach mucosa of *Helicobacter pylori* infected mice. *Vaccine* 30:1636-1643.

Georgel, P., M. Radosavljevic, C. Macquin, and S. Bahram. 2011. The non-conventional MHC class I MR1 molecule controls infection by *Klebsiella pneumoniae* in mice. *Mol Immunol* 48:769-775.

Deleted: ecular i

Deleted: ogy

Gold, M.C., S. Cerri, S. Smyk-Pearson, M.E. Cansler, T.M. Vogt, J. Delepine, E. Winata, G.M. Swarbrick, W.J. Chua, Y.Y. Yu, O. Lantz, M.S. Cook, M.D. Null, D.B. Jacoby, M.J. Harriff, D.A. Lewinsohn, T.H. Hansen, and D.M. Lewinsohn. 2010. Human mucosal associated invariant T cells detect bacterially infected cells. *PLoS Biol* 8:e1000407.

Gracey, E., Z. Qaiyum, I. Almaghlouth, D. Lawson, S. Karki, N. Avvaru, Z. Zhang, Y. Yao, V. Ranganathan, Y. Baglaenko, and R.D. Inman. 2016. IL-7 primes IL-17 in mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells, which contribute to the Th17-axis in ankylosing spondylitis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 75:2124-2132.

Gray, B.M., C.A. Fontaine, S.A. Poe, and K.A. Eaton. 2013. Complex T cell interactions contribute to Helicobacter pylori gastritis in mice. *Infection and Immunity* 81:740-752.

Deleted: i

Griffin, G.K., G. Newton, M.L. Tarrio, D.-x. Bu, E. Maganto-Garcia, V. Azcutia, P. Alcaide, N. Gracie, F.W. Luscinskas, K.J. Croce, and A.H. Lichtman. 2012. IL-17 and TNF- α Sustain Neutrophil Recruitment during Inflammation through Synergistic Effects on Endothelial Activation. *J Immunology* 188:6287-6299.

Deleted: The

Deleted: urnal of

Haga, K., A. Chiba, T. Shibuya, T. Osada, D. Ishikawa, T. Kodani, O. Nomura, S. Watanabe, and S. Miyake. 2016. MAIT cells are activated and accumulated in the inflamed mucosa of ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 31:965-972.

Hayashi, E., A. Chiba, K. Tada, K. Haga, M. Kitagaichi, S. Nakajima, M. Kusaoi, F. Sekiya, M. Ogasawara, K. Yamaji, N. Tamura, Y. Takasaki, and S. Miyake. 2016. Involvement of Mucosal-associated Invariant T cells in Ankylosing Spondylitis. *J Rheumatol* 43:1695-1703.

Held, K., L. Bhonsle-Deeng, K. Siewert, W. Sato, E. Beltran, S. Schmidt, G. Ruhl, J.K. Ng, P. Engerer, M. Moser, W.E. Klinkert, H. Babbe, T. Misgeld, H. Wekerle, D.A. Laplaud, R. Hohlfeld, and K. Dormair. 2015. alpha T-cell receptors from multiple sclerosis brain lesions show MAIT cell-related features. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm* 2:e107.

Hiejima, E., T. Kawai, H. Nakase, T. Tsuruyama, T. Morimoto, T. Yasumi, T. Taga, H. Kanegane, M. Hori, K. Ohmori, T. Higuchi, M. Matsuura, T. Yoshino, H. Ikeuchi, K. Kawada, Y. Sakai, M.T. Kitazume, T. Hisamatsu, T. Chiba, R. Nishikomori, and T. Heike. 2015. Reduced Numbers and Proapoptotic Features of Mucosal-associated Invariant T Cells as a Characteristic Finding in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 21:1529-1540.

Hinks, T.S., J.C. Wallington, A.P. Williams, R. Djukanovic, K.J. Staples, and T.M. Wilkinson. 2016. Steroid-induced Deficiency of Mucosal-associated Invariant T Cells in the Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Lung. Implications for Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Infection. *Am J Respira Crit Care Med* 194:1208-1218.

Deleted: erican

Deleted: journal

Deleted: of

Deleted: r

Deleted: tory

Deleted: and

Deleted: c

Deleted: ical

Deleted: c

Deleted: m

Deleted: icine

Deleted: i

Hoiseth, S.K., and B.A.D. Stocker. 1981. Aromatic-dependent Salmonella typhimurium are non-virulent and effective as live vaccines. *Nature* 291:238-239.

Jackson, D.C., Y.F. Lau, T. Le, A. Suhrbier, G. Deliyannis, C. Cheers, C. Smith, W. Zeng, and L.E. Brown. 2004. A totally synthetic vaccine of generic structure that targets Toll-like receptor 2 on dendritic cells and promotes antibody or cytotoxic T cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101:15440-15445.

Kaparakis, M., A.K. Walduck, J.D. Price, J.S. Pedersen, N. van Rooijen, M.J. Pearse, O.L. Wijburg, and R.A. Strugnell. 2008. Macrophages are mediators of gastritis in acute Helicobacter pylori infection in C57BL/6 mice. *Infection and Immunity* 76:2235-2239.

- Kawachi, I., J. Maldonado, C. Strader, and S. Gilfillan. 2006. MR1-restricted V alpha 19i mucosal-associated invariant T cells are innate T cells in the gut lamina propria that provide a rapid and diverse cytokine response. *J Immunol* 176:1618-1627.
- Keller, A.N., A.J. Corbett, J.M. Wubben, J. McCluskey, and J. Rossjohn. 2017a. MAIT cells and MR1-antigen recognition. *Curr Opin Immunol* 46:66-74.
- Keller, A.N., S.B. Eckle, W. Xu, L. Liu, V.A. Hughes, J.Y. Mak, B.S. Meehan, T. Pediongco, R.W. Birkinshaw, Z. Chen, H. Wang, C. D'Souza, L. Kjer-Nielsen, N.A. Gherardin, D.I. Godfrey, L. Kostenko, A.J. Corbett, A.W. Purcell, D.P. Fairlie, J. McCluskey, and J. Rossjohn. 2017b. Drugs and drug-like molecules can modulate the function of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Immunol* 18:402-411.
- Kjer-Nielsen, L., O. Patel, A.J. Corbett, J. Le Nours, B. Meehan, L. Liu, M. Bhati, Z. Chen, L. Kostenko, R. Reantragoon, N.A. Williamson, A.W. Purcell, N.L. Dudek, M.J. McConville, R.A. O'Hair, G.N. Khairallah, D.I. Godfrey, D.P. Fairlie, J. Rossjohn, and J. McCluskey. 2012. MR1 presents microbial vitamin B metabolites to MAIT cells. *Nature* 491:717-723.
- Koay, H.F., N.A. Gherardin, A. Enders, L. Loh, L.K. Mackay, C.F. Almeida, B.E. Russ, C.A. Nold-Petry, M.F. Nold, S. Bedoui, Z. Chen, A.J. Corbett, S.B. Eckle, B. Meehan, Y. d'Udekem, I.E. Konstantinov, M. Lappas, L. Liu, C.C. Goodnow, D.P. Fairlie, J. Rossjohn, M.M. Chong, K. Kedzierska, S.P. Berzins, G.T. Belz, J. McCluskey, A.P. Uldrich, D.I. Godfrey, and D.G. Pellicci. 2016. A three-stage intrathymic development pathway for the mucosal-associated invariant T cell lineage. *Nat Immunol* 17:1300-1311.
- Kohlmeier, J.E., W.W. Reiley, G. Perona-Wright, M.L. Freeman, E.J. Yager, L.M. Connor, E.L. Brincks, T. Cookenham, A.D. Roberts, C.E. Burkum, S. Sell, G.M. Winslow, M.A. Blackman, M. Mohrs, and D.L. Woodland. 2011. Inflammatory chemokine receptors regulate CD8(+) T cell contraction and memory generation following infection. *J Exp Med* 208:1621-1634.
- Larussa, T., I. Leone, E. Suraci, M. Imeneo, and F. Luzzi. 2015. Helicobacter pylori and T Helper Cells: Mechanisms of Immune Escape and Tolerance. *J Immunol Res* 2015:981328.
- Lau, Y.F., G. Deliyannis, W. Zeng, A. Mansell, D.C. Jackson, and L.E. Brown. 2006. Lipid-containing mimetics of natural triggers of innate immunity as CTL-inducing influenza vaccines. *Int Immunol* 18:1801-1813.
- Le Bourhis, L., L. Guerri, M. Dusseaux, E. Martin, C. Soudais, and O. Lantz. 2011. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells: unconventional development and function. *Trends Immunol* 32:212-218.
- Le Bourhis, L., E. Martin, I. Peguillet, A. Guihot, N. Froux, M. Core, E. Levy, M. Dusseaux, V. Meyssonier, V. Premel, C. Ngo, B. Riteau, L. Duban, D. Robert, S. Huang, M. Rottman, C. Soudais, and O. Lantz. 2010. Antimicrobial activity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Immunol* 11:701-708.
- Lee, A., J. O'Rourke, M.C. De Ungria, B. Robertson, G. Daskalopoulos, and M.F. Dixon. 1997. A standardized mouse model of Helicobacter pylori infection: introducing the Sydney strain. *Gastroenterol* 112:1386-1397.

Deleted: ogy

- Lepore, M., A. Kalinichenko, A. Colone, B. Paleja, A. Singhal, A. Tschumi, B. Lee, M. Poidinger, F. Zolezzi, L. Quagliata, P. Sander, E. Newell, A. Bertolotti, L. Terracciano, G. De Libero, and L. Mori. 2014. Parallel T-cell cloning and deep sequencing of human MAIT cells reveal stable oligoclonal TCRbeta repertoire. *Nat Commun* 5:3866.
- Loh, L., Z. Wang, S. Sant, M. Koutsakos, S. Jegaskanda, A.J. Corbett, L. Liu, D.P. Fairlie, J. Crowe, J. Rossjohn, J. Xu, P.C. Doherty, J. McCluskey, and K. Kedzierska. 2016. Human mucosal-associated invariant T cells contribute to antiviral influenza immunity via IL-18-dependent activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 113:10133-10138.
- Lynch, L., X. Michelet, S. Zhang, P.J. Brennan, A. Moseman, C. Lester, G. Besra, E.E. Vomhof-Dekrey, M. Tighe, H.F. Koay, D.I. Godfrey, E.A. Leadbetter, D.B. Sant'Angelo, U. von Andrian, and M.B. Brenner. 2015. Regulatory iNKT cells lack expression of the transcription factor PLZF and control the homeostasis of T(reg) cells and macrophages in adipose tissue. *Nat Immunol* 16:85-95.
- Magalhaes, I., and A. Lehuen. 2015. [Mucosal-associated invariant T cells in obesity and type 2 diabetes]. *Med Sci (Paris)* 31:717-719.
- Mak, J.Y., W. Xu, R.C. Reid, A.J. Corbett, B.S. Meehan, H. Wang, Z. Chen, J. Rossjohn, J. McCluskey, L. Liu, and D.P. Fairlie. 2017. Stabilizing short-lived Schiff base derivatives of 5-aminouracils that activate mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Commun* 8:14599.
- Martin, E., E. Treiner, L. Duban, L. Guerri, H. Laude, C. Toly, V. Premel, A. Devys, I.C. Moura, F. Tilloy, S. Cherif, G. Vera, S. Latour, C. Soudais, and O. Lantz. 2009. Stepwise development of MAIT cells in mouse and human. *PLoS Biol* 7:e54.
- McGuckin, M.A., A.L. Every, C.D. Skene, S.K. Linden, Y.T. Chionh, A. Swierczak, J. McAuley, S. Harbour, M. Kaparakis, R. Ferrero, and P. Sutton. 2007. Muc1 mucin limits both *Helicobacter pylori* colonization of the murine gastric mucosa and associated gastritis. *Gastroenterology* 133:1210-1218.
- Meierovics, A., W.J. Yankelevich, and S.C. Cowley. 2013. MAIT cells are critical for optimal mucosal immune responses during in vivo pulmonary bacterial infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 110:E3119-3128.
- Meierovics, A.I., and S.C. Cowley. 2016. MAIT cells promote inflammatory monocyte differentiation into dendritic cells during pulmonary intracellular infection. *J Exp Med* 213:2793-2809.
- Miyazaki, Y., S. Miyake, A. Chiba, O. Lantz, and T. Yamamura. 2011. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells regulate Th1 response in multiple sclerosis. *Int Immunol* 23:529-535.
- Moyat, M., and D. Velin. 2014. Immune responses to *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *World J Gastroenterol*: WJG 20:5583-5593.
- Negrotto, L., E. Canto, J. Rio, M. Tintore, X. Montalban, and M. Comabella. 2015. Peripheral blood non-MAIT CD8+CD161hi cells are decreased in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis patients treated with interferon beta. *J Neuroimmunol* 288:98-101.

Deleted: logy

Deleted: journal of g

Deleted: ogy

Newland, J.W., T.L. Hale, and S.B. Formal. 1992. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of an *aroD* deletion-attenuated *Escherichia coli* K12-Shigella flexneri hybrid vaccine expressing *S. flexneri* 2a somatic antigen. *Vaccine* 10:766-776.

Ng, G.Z., and P. Sutton. 2015. An optimised perfusion technique for extracting murine gastric leukocytes. *J Immunol Methods* 427:126-129.

Ohnishi, N., H. Yuasa, S. Tanaka, H. Sawa, M. Miura, A. Matsui, H. Higashi, M. Musashi, K. Iwabuchi, M. Suzuki, G. Yamada, T. Azuma, and M. Hatakeyama. 2008. Transgenic expression of *Helicobacter pylori* CagA induces gastrointestinal and hematopoietic neoplasms in mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105:1003-1008.

Park, Y.H., and N. Kim. 2015. Review of atrophic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia as a premalignant lesion of gastric cancer. *J Cancer Prev* 20:25-40.

Patel, O., L. Kjer-Nielsen, J. Le Nours, S.B. Eckle, R. Birkinshaw, T. Beddoe, A.J. Corbett, L. Liu, J.J. Miles, B. Meehan, R. Reantragoon, M.L. Sandoval-Romero, L.C. Sullivan, A.G. Brooks, Z. Chen, D.P. Fairlie, J. McCluskey, and J. Rossjohn. 2013. Recognition of vitamin B metabolites by mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *Nat Commun* 4:2142.

Peek, R.M., Jr., and J.E. Crabtree. 2006. *Helicobacter* infection and gastric neoplasia. *J Pathol* 208:233-248.

Peek, R.M., Jr., C. Fiske, and K.T. Wilson. 2010. Role of innate immunity in *Helicobacter pylori*-induced gastric malignancy. *Physiol Rev* 90:831-858.

Rahimpour, A., H.F. Koay, A. Enders, R. Clanchy, S.B.G. Eckle, B. Meehan, Z. Chen, B. Whittle, L. Liu, D.P. Fairlie, C.C. Goodnow, J. McCluskey, J. Rossjohn, A.P. Uldrich, D.G. Pellicci, and D.I. Godfrey. 2015. Identification of phenotypically and functionally heterogeneous mouse Mucosal Associated Invariant T cells using MR1 tetramers. *J Exp Med* 20:1095-1108.

Reantragoon, R., A.J. Corbett, I.G. Sakala, N.A. Gherardin, J.B. Furness, Z. Chen, S.B. Eckle, A.P. Uldrich, R.W. Birkinshaw, O. Patel, L. Kostenko, B. Meehan, K. Kedzierska, L. Liu, D.P. Fairlie, T.H. Hansen, D.I. Godfrey, J. Rossjohn, J. McCluskey, and L. Kjer-Nielsen. 2013. Antigen-loaded MR1 tetramers define T cell receptor heterogeneity in mucosal-associated invariant T cells. *J Exp Med* 210:2305-2320.

Reantragoon, R., L. Kjer-Nielsen, O. Patel, Z. Chen, P.T. Illing, M. Bhati, L. Kostenko, M. Bharadwaj, B. Meehan, T.H. Hansen, D.I. Godfrey, J. Rossjohn, and J. McCluskey. 2012. Structural insight into MR1-mediated recognition of the mucosal associated invariant T cell receptor. *J Exp Med* 209:761-774.

Reis, B.S., A. Rogoz, F.A. Costa-Pinto, I. Taniuchi, and D. Mucida. 2013. Mutual expression of the transcription factors Runx3 and ThPOK regulates intestinal CD4(+) T cell immunity. *Nat Immunol* 14:271-280.

Ricci, V., M. Giannouli, M. Romano, and R. Zarrilli. 2014. *Helicobacter pylori* gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase and its pathogenic role. *World J Gastroenterol*: WJG 20:630-638.

Rogers, A.B. 2012. Histologic scoring of gastritis and gastric cancer in mouse models. *Meth Mol Biol* 921:189-203.

Deleted: eedings

Deleted: of the

Deleted: iona

Deleted: emy of

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: ences

Deleted: journal of g

Deleted: ogy

Deleted: ods in

Deleted: m

Deleted: ecular

Deleted: b

Deleted: ogy

- Sakala, I.G., L. Kjer-Nielsen, C.S. Eickhoff, X. Wang, A. Blazevic, L. Liu, D.P. Fairlie, J. Rossjohn, J. McCluskey, D.H. Fremont, T.H. Hansen, and D.F. Hoft. 2015. Functional Heterogeneity and Antimycobacterial Effects of Mouse Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells Specific for Riboflavin Metabolites. *J Immunol* 195:587-601.
- Salerno-Goncalves, R., D. Luo, S. Fresnay, L. Magder, T.C. Darton, C. Jones, C.S. Waddington, C.J. Blohmke, B. Angus, M.M. Levine, A.J. Pollard, and M.B. Sztein. 2017. Challenge of Humans with Wild-type Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhi Elicits Changes in the Activation and Homing Characteristics of Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells. *Front Immunol* 8:398.
- Salou, M., B. Nicol, A. Garcia, D. Baron, L. Michel, A. Elong-Ngono, P. Hulin, S. Nedellec, M. Jacq-Foucher, F. Le Frere, N. Jousset, A. Bourreille, S. Wiertelowski, J.P. Soulillou, S. Brouard, A.B. Nicot, N. Degauque, and D.A. Laplaud. 2016. Neuropathologic, phenotypic and functional analyses of Mucosal Associated Invariant T cells in Multiple Sclerosis. *Clin Immunol* 166-167:1-11.
- Serriari, N.E., M. Eoche, L. Lamotte, J. Lion, M. Fumery, P. Marcelo, D. Chatelain, A. Barre, E. Nguyen-Khac, O. Lantz, J.L. Dupas, and E. Treiner. 2014. Innate mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are activated in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Clin Exp Immunol* 176:266-274.
- Shi, Y., X.F. Liu, Y. Zhuang, J.Y. Zhang, T. Liu, Z. Yin, C. Wu, X.H. Mao, K.R. Jia, F.J. Wang, H. Guo, R.A. Flavell, Z. Zhao, K.Y. Liu, B. Xiao, Y. Guo, W.J. Zhang, W.Y. Zhou, G. Guo, and Q.M. Zou. 2010. Helicobacter pylori-induced Th17 responses modulate Th1 cell responses, benefit bacterial growth, and contribute to pathology in mice. *J Immunol* 184:5121-5129.
- Sugimoto, C., T. Konno, R. Wakao, H. Fujita, H. Fujita, and H. Wakao. 2015. Mucosal-associated invariant T cell is a potential marker to distinguish fibromyalgia syndrome from arthritis. *PLoS One* 10:e0121124.
- Sutton, P., S.J. Danon, M. Walker, L.J. Thompson, J. Wilson, T. Kosaka, and A. Lee. 2001. Post-immunisation gastritis and Helicobacter infection in the mouse: a long term study. *Gut* 49:467-473.
- Tan, A.C., E.J. Mifsud, W. Zeng, K. Edenborough, J. McVernon, L.E. Brown, and D.C. Jackson. 2012. Intranasal administration of the TLR2 agonist Pam2Cys provides rapid protection against influenza in mice. *Mol Pharm* 9:2710-2718.
- Tan, M.P., J. Pedersen, Y. Zhan, A.M. Lew, M.J. Pearse, O.L. Wijburg, and R.A. Strugnell. 2008. CD8+ T cells are associated with severe gastritis in Helicobacter pylori-infected mice in the absence of CD4+ T cells. *Infection and Immunity* 76:1289-1297.
- Tilloy, F., E. Treiner, S.H. Park, C. Garcia, F. Lemonnier, H. de la Salle, A. Bendelac, M. Bonneville, and O. Lantz. 1999. An invariant T cell receptor alpha chain defines a novel TAP-independent major histocompatibility complex class Ib-restricted alpha/beta T cell subpopulation in mammals. *J Exp Med* 189:1907-1921.
- Treiner, E. 2015. Mucosal-associated invariant T cells in inflammatory bowel diseases: bystanders, defenders, or offenders? *Front Immunol* 6:27.
- Ussher, J.E., M. Bilton, E. Attwod, J. Shadwell, R. Richardson, C. de Lara, E. Mettke, A. Kurioka, T.H. Hansen, P. Klenerman, and C.B. Willberg. 2014. CD161(++) CD8(+) T cells, including the

Deleted: *ecular*

Deleted: *p*

Deleted: *aceutics*

Deleted: *i*

MAIT cell subset, are specifically activated by IL-12+IL-18 in a TCR-independent manner. *Eur J Immunol* 44:195-203.

van Wilgenburg, B., I. Scherwitzl, E.C. Hutchinson, T. Leng, A. Kurioka, C. Kulicke, C. de Lara, S. Cole, S. Vasanawathana, W. Limpitikul, P. Malasit, D. Young, L. Denney, S.-H. consortium, M.D. Moore, P. Fabris, M.T. Giordani, Y.H. Oo, S.M. Laidlaw, L.B. Dustin, L.P. Ho, F.M. Thompson, N. Ramamurthy, J. Mongkolsapaya, C.B. Willberg, G.R. Screaton, and P. Klenerman. 2016. MAIT cells are activated during human viral infections. *Nat Commun* 7:11653.

Wada, A., E. Yamasaki, and T. Hirayama. 2004. Helicobacter pylori vacuolating cytotoxin, VacA, is responsible for gastric ulceration. *J Biochem* 136:741-746.

Wang, G.C., P. Dash, J.A. McCullers, P.C. Doherty, and P.G. Thomas. 2012. T cell receptor alpha diversity inversely correlates with pathogen-specific antibody levels in human cytomegalovirus infection. *Sci Trans Med* 4:128ra142.

Willing, A., O.A. Leach, F. Ufer, K.E. Attfield, K. Steinbach, N. Kursawe, M. Piedavent, and M.A. Friese. 2014. CD8(+) MAIT cells infiltrate into the CNS and alterations in their blood frequencies correlate with IL-18 serum levels in multiple sclerosis. *Eur J Immunol* 44:3119-3128.

Wroblewski, L.E., R.M. Peek, Jr., and K.T. Wilson. 2010. Helicobacter pylori and gastric cancer: factors that modulate disease risk. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 23:713-739.

Yamamoto, T., M. Kita, T. Ohno, Y. Iwakura, K. Sekikawa, and J. Imanishi. 2004. Role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma in Helicobacter pylori infection. *Microbiol Immunol* 48:647-654.

Deleted: ence

Deleted: t

Deleted: lational

Deleted: m

Deleted: icine

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. *H. pylori* culture supernatant stimulates a MAIT cell line. **A)** *In vitro* activation of Jurkat.MAIT cells by filtered *S. Typhimurium* SL1344 (Salm., grey bars) or *H. pylori* SS1 (black or dotted bars) supernatant (s/n) or media controls (LB or BHI respectively, striped bars) in a co-culture assay with C1R.MR1 cells with or without MR1 blockade (mAb 26.5 or isotype control 8A5). Activation was detected by staining with anti-CD69. **B)** Activation of control Jurkat.LC13 cells cultured with C1R.HLA-B8 cells with *H. pylori* s/n (black bars) or 285nM FLRGRAYGL peptide from Epstein Barr Virus (FLR, grey bar). Data shows MFI (mean \pm SEM) of gated Jurkat.MAIT or Jurkat.LC13 cells from three independent experiments. **C)** MR1 expression on

gated C1R.MR1 cells following overnight incubation with *H. pylori* s/n or BHI media. Data shows MF1 minus background (Nil stimulus) (mean \pm SEM from three experiments).

Figure 2. MAIT cells are observed in human gastric mucosa in proximity to *H. pylori*. **A)** Immunofluorescence staining of human gastric tissue. Magenta: CD3, Grey: TRAV1-2, Yellow: *H. pylori*, Blue: nuclear stain. 100 x magnification. Blue arrows CD3⁺TRAV1-2⁺ cells, Yellow arrow: *H. pylori*. Multiple sections from three patients showed similar results. **B)** Detection of MAIT cells by flow cytometry in PBMCs or single cell suspensions of gastric tissue from patients undergoing sleeve gastrectomy. Gate shows MAIT cells, defined as CD3⁺CD45⁺CD161⁺MR1-tetramer⁺ live cells. Numbers indicate the MAIT cell percentage of CD3⁺CD45⁺ live cells.

Figure 3. MAIT TCR transgenic mice show greater pathology following *H. pylori* infection. **A)** Representative plots showing MAIT and non MAIT CD3⁺ cells in $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^+$ MR1⁻ and $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^-$ MR1⁻ mice at 12 weeks post-infection with *H. pylori*. **B)** MAIT cells as a percentage of CD3⁺ T cells in $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^+$ MR1⁻ and $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^-$ MR1⁻ mice over a time course of 2 to 12 weeks post-infection. The experiment was performed three times with similar results: 5-8 mice per group were examined (mean \pm SEM, one-way ANOVA, **p<0.001). **C)** Pathology scores of $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^+$ MR1⁻ and $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^-$ MR1⁻ mice at 12 weeks post infection. Sections were scored for neutrophilic infiltration, lymphocytic infiltration and atrophy (Kruskal-Wallis test, *p<0.05). **D)** Representative photomicrographs of H&E-stained sections of mouse stomachs showing infected $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^+$ MR1⁻ with severe gastritis, uninfected $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^+$ MR1⁻ (normal) and infected $V\alpha 19iC\alpha^-$ MR1⁻ (normal architecture).

Figure 4. MAIT cells expand in response to *H. pylori* infection in wt C57BL/6 mice after pre-priming. **A)** Schematic depicting the model used for the experiments. **B)** Percentage distribution of

MAIT cells in different organs 7 weeks after intranasal infection with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509. C) Absolute numbers of MAIT cells from the stomachs of wt mice infected with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509, and then challenged (at 7 weeks) with *H. pylori* or left unchallenged over time (one-way ANOVA, * $p < 0.05$, ** $p < 0.001$; $n = 8$).

Figure 5. Characterisation of the phenotype of MAIT cells following infection. Analysis of effector memory (CD62L and CD44) (A), and tissue residency (CD103 and CD69) marker expression (D) on MAIT cells and non-MAIT T cells isolated from the lungs and stomachs of *S. Typhimurium*-primed mice infected with *H. pylori*, (or left uninfected) at 8 weeks post-infection. (B) Transcription factor expression by MAIT cells and non-MAIT T cells isolated from the stomachs of *S. Typhimurium*-primed *H. pylori*-infected mice at 8 weeks post-infection. C) CD4⁺, CD8⁺ and DN MAIT cells expressed as a percentage of total MAIT cells in the blood and stomachs of *S. Typhimurium*-primed mice, challenged or not with *H. pylori* at 8 weeks post *H. pylori* infection. The experiments were performed three times with similar results. Representative plots are shown.

Figure 6. MAIT cells orchestrate accumulation of other T cells in the gastric mucosa. A) Absolute numbers of non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cells from the stomachs of wt and MR1⁻ mice infected with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 (Salm.), and then challenged (at 7 weeks) with with *H. pylori* or left unchallenged over time (one-way ANOVA, * $p < 0.05$, ** $p < 0.001$; $n = 8$). Data is from the same experiment shown in Fig. 4c. B-E) Absolute numbers of MAIT cells (B, D) and non-MAIT $\alpha\beta$ -T cells (C, E) from stomachs of wt and MR1⁻ mice primed with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 (Salm.) or BRD509 Δ *ribDH* (Salm. Δ *ribDH*) plus or minus 5-OP-RU (B-C) or Pam2Cys plus either 5-OP-RU or 6-FP (D-E), and then either challenged with *H. pylori* or left unchallenged (data shown is 8

weeks post-*H. pylori* infection) (one-way ANOVA, * $p < 0.05$, ** $p < 0.001$). The experiment was performed twice with similar results. Data represent mean \pm SEM (n=5-8).

Figure 7. Prior expansion of MAIT cells leads to recruitment of innate immune cells in wt mice and reveals pathological role in *H. pylori* infection. Absolute numbers of neutrophils (A), macrophages (B), eosinophils (C), and dendritic cells (D) from stomachs of wt and MR1⁻ mice infected with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 (Salm.) or Pam2Cys plus 5-OP-RU, and then challenged with *H. pylori* (at 7 weeks) or left unchallenged over time (one-way ANOVA, * $p < 0.05$, ** $p < 0.001$; n=8). (E) Pathology scores of *S. Typhimurium*-primed wt and MR1⁻ mice at 8 weeks post *H. pylori* infection. Sections were scored for neutrophilic infiltration, lymphocytic infiltration and atrophy (Kruskal-Wallis test, * $p < 0.05$). Representative scores from one experiment are shown. The experiment was repeated 3 times with similar results.

Supplementary Figure 1. Gating strategy for flow cytometry of PBMCs and gastric cell suspensions. Cells were gated sequentially from left to right for lymphocytes, single cells, live cells, CD45+CD3+ cells, and finally MAIT cells.

Supplementary Figure 2. Scatter plots showing MAIT cell transcription factor expression from lung or, stomach MAIT cells from primed or primed and challenged mice (each dot represents data from 2-3 pooled mice).

Supplementary Table 1. Table of representative stomach TCR sequences identified from single sorted MAIT cells and multiplex PCR sequencing (n=30). Cells were obtained from stomachs of *S. Typhimurium* BRD509-primed and *H. pylori*-challenged wt mice at 2 weeks post *H. pylori* infection.

Supplementary Figure 3. Representative photomicrographs of H&E-stained sections of mouse stomachs from wt mice immunised with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 (Salm.) (showing normal mucosa) and primed with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 (Salm.) and *H. pylori*-challenged wt (severe gastritis) and MR1⁻ mice (mild inflammation).

Supplementary Figure 4. Pathology scores of wt and MR1⁻ mice primed with *S. Typhimurium* BRD509 (Salm.) or BRD509 Δ *ribDH* (Salm. Δ *ribDH*) (A) or Pam2Cys and 5-OP-RU or 6-FP (B) then challenged with *H. pylori* or left unchallenged at 8 weeks post *H. pylori*-infection. Sections were scored for neutrophilic infiltration, lymphocytic infiltration and atrophy (Kruskal-Wallis test, *p<0.05).